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A jury convicted Jose Antonio Martinez, the defendant herein, of the second
degree murder (Pen. Code, § 187)! of Cesar Sanchez. The jury found true an allegation
that defendant personally used a firearm in the commission of the offense. (§ 12022.53,
subd. (d).) The district attorney had alleged that defendant committed the crime to
benefit a street gang (8 186.22, subd. (b)(1)(C)), but the jury returned no finding on that
allegation and the trial court dismissed it on the prosecution’s motion.

Following victim-impact statements by two members of Sanchez’s family and a
victim advocate who knew Sanchez, the trial court sentenced defendant to 40 years to life

in state prison.

1 All statutory references are to the Penal Code unless otherwise indicated.




Finding no prejudicial error or prejudicial prosecution misconduct, we will affirm
the judgment.

FACTS AND PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND

Defendant was only 16 years old on March 7, 2005, when he murdered Sanchez,
who was married and 22 years old. Defendant was a member of the Varrio Horse Shoe
set of the Nortefio street gang with a violent history despite his young age. Sanchez was
a member of the East Side Clantone or Clanton set of the Surefio street gang.

Because defendant’s claims either are not fact-dependent or touch on limited
aspects of the facts, we will provide a concise and limited summary of the evidence
presented to the jury.

l. Prosecution Case

The prosecution’s theory of the case was that defendant murdered Sanchez
because they belonged to opposing gangs and Sanchez refused to be intimidated by a
challenge defendant made to him. Defendant committed the murder by shooting Sanchez
execution-style at close range (the express malice theory), by killing him in the course of
committing a highly dangerous act with conscious disregard for human life (the implied
malice theory), or by killing him in the course of firing a number of gunshots in the
direction of the inhabited dwelling belonging to Sanchez (the second degree felony
murder theory).

Marcelino Carranza testified that he saw defendant shoot Sanchez. Carranza and
defendant were walking down the sidewalk fronting Sanchez’s house on the evening of
March 7, 2005. Sanchez was standing on his porch, smoking a cigarette. Defendant
knew that Sanchez was a Surefio because moments beforehand someone had commented

that Sanchez’s house was occupied by scrapas, i.e., scraps, a derogatory term that



Nortefios use to refer to Surefios.? Defendant asked Sanchez for a cigarette in a hostile
and challenging manner. Sanchez descended from the porch, stood near defendant at the
house’s front gate, and rebuffed defendant in vulgar terms, telling him he didn’t have any
cigarettes to share with him. Defendant responded by insulting Sanchez and shooting
him with a handgun. Carranza saw the muzzle flash of the first gunshot and heard
several more gunshots as Carranza began to run away from the scene.

There was other evidence identifying defendant as the killer. Juan Torres, the
victim’s brother-in-law, who along with Mario Torres was inside the house belonging to
the victim and the victim’s wife, Carmen Torres, testified that he saw the hand of an
individual wearing a 49ers football team jersey discharge a gun in the direction of the
house. Juan Torres heard a number of gunshots, ran outside, and found Sanchez lying on
the porch and bleeding.

Carmen Torres was inside the house when she saw two men approach her
husband, who was standing on their porch. One was wearing a red and white football
jersey bearing a number she perceived to be 08. Carmen Torres then heard several
gunshots, went out onto the porch, and found her fatally wounded husband lying there
with a head wound.

Mario Torres, another brother-in-law of the victim, was standing behind the closed
front door of the house and saw that the shooter was wearing a red jersey. He, too, then
found Sanchez bleeding on the porch. Torres perceived that defendant was intentionally
shooting at him as he stood behind the house’s closed front door and watched the shooter

from one of the door’s three separate small windows.

2 A San Jose police officer testified that to Nortefios “a scrap is just a derogatory
term for someone that they consider a [Surefio] or a Mexican from Mexico . ... They
consider them like a scrap, like they’re below the English-speaking . . . Chicano Nortefio
gang members.” (See People v. Zarazua (2008) 162 Cal.App.4th 1348, 1351.)



Various witnesses, including Carranza, testified that on the day of Sanchez’s
murder defendant was wearing a red and white San Francisco 49ers football team jersey;
some saw that the jersey bore the number 80 (the number belonging to the storied 49ers
wide receiver Jerry Rice) or a similar number. The parties stipulated that another witness,
defendant’s sister-in-law, would have testified, if she had appeared in court, that
defendant came home in the evening on the day of the murder. His face was sweaty and
he was wearing a red jersey bearing the number eight or 80 in white characters on both
sides. During their investigation of the murder, the police recovered a Jerry Rice (as
noted, Rice’s uniform number was 80) 49ers team jersey from defendant’s house on
Auzerais Street in San Jose. A criminalist located one particle containing lead and barium
on the jersey and opined that the particle probably comprised gunshot residue.

Alejandro Mariscal testified that after the shooting defendant said he had
“dumped” on the victim, which Mariscal understood to mean defendant had shot him.

Another Nortefio gang member, Francisco Carrillo, a good friend of defendant,
was wearing a red San Jose Sharks hockey team jersey that evening. Carrillo, however,
had left the area minutes before the shooting occurred and had just arrived at his nearby
home when he heard gunshots, evidently those that killed Sanchez.

Before the shooting, defendant showed Mariscal a .357 revolver loaded with four
bullets. A criminalist testified that the bullets recovered from the crime scene could have
been fired from that type of handgun.

A forensic pathologist who conducted an autopsy on Sanchez testified that he had
two distinct gunshot wounds and a fragmentation injury. He had been shot in the head
and arm. There was no testimony about the distance from which defendant inflicted the
head wound. The pathologist testified, however, that the arm wound was inflicted from
no farther than three feet away, as shown by stippling on Sanchez’s arm. It was
impossible to tell whether Sanchez was shot first in the head or the arm. The pathologist

explained that, for example, “he could have been shot in the arm as a non-fatal injury and



then shot in the head after.” Because there was no stippling associated with the head
wound, that wound must have been inflicted from a distance greater than three feet,
unless some intermediate barrier had blocked stippling from occurring that otherwise
would have.

. Defense Case

The defense theory was that Carrillo murdered Sanchez.

Carrillo had ties to both the Varrio Horse Shoe set of the Nortefio street gang and a
different Nortefio gang set, the San Jose Unidos. His best friend was Mariscal, a fellow
Nortefio and current or former San Jose Unidos member; the Unidos were friendly with
the Varrio Horse Shoe set. Sanchez had once tried to assault Mariscal. After the
shooting, a neighborhood visitor and a neighborhood resident both heard a woman
scream “Francisco,” a name identical to Carrillo’s first name. As noted, Carrillo was
wearing a red San Jose Sharks hockey team jersey on the day of the shooting. On the
night of the shooting, Mario Torres told police the shooter was wearing a red Sharks
jersey. At trial, Torres was unsure or did not recall which team emblem the jersey
displayed, but was sure the jersey’s color was red. Minutes before, Torres had looked out
the front window of the Sanchez—Carmen Torres residence and seen a man on foot
wearing a Sharks jersey. On seeing Torres, the man reached for his waist as if he was
carrying a gun, but he did not extract any gun and continued on toward a liquor store.

DISCUSSION

l. Instructing on Second Degree Felony Murder

Defendant contends that his second degree murder conviction must be reversed
because the trial court instructed the jurors that they could find him guilty of second
degree felony murder.

The trial court instructed the jury that it could find defendant guilty of murder if
the murder was committed with express malice, i.e., with the purpose of killing Sanchez

(88 187, 188), or was committed with implied malice, i.e. (here we will distill a



labyrinthine part of the law of homicide to a few words) by committing a dangerous act
with conscious disregard for human life (ibid.; see, e.g., People v. Knoller (2007) 41
Cal.4th 139, 151-152), or if the killing constituted felony murder because it occurred
during a shooting at an inhabited dwelling (8 246), a dangerous felony subjecting the
perpetrator to liability under the second degree felony murder rule if the act kills someone
(People v. Hansen (1994) 9 Cal.4th 300, 304, 309-310, 315).

A. Whether Section 246 Can Underlie Second Degree Felony Murder

Defendant contends that, given what he perceives to be an unsettled state of the
law in this area, as a matter of law a finding that a criminal defendant killed by
unlawfully discharging a firearm at an occupied dwelling (8§ 246) cannot give rise to
liability for second degree felony murder. We do not agree.

For a criminal defendant to be liable for murder under the second degree felony
murder rule, the underlying crime must not “merge” with the killing. For an assaultive
crime that results in death, the perpetrator is not liable for second degree felony murder
unless the underlying crime was committed with a purpose independent of and collateral
to causing injury. (People v. Robertson (2004) 34 Cal.4th 156, 171.) To the extent
defendant argues that a violation of section 246 can never underpin a second degree
felony murder conviction, we are constrained by People v. Hansen, supra, 9 Cal.4th at
pages 304, 309-310, and 315, to reject that view. (Auto Equity Sales, Inc. v. Superior
Court (1962) 57 Cal.2d 450, 455.)

B. Presence of Evidence to Support a Felony Murder Instruction

Defendant claims that there was no evidence to support an instruction on second
degree felony murder. As he frames the issue, “the evidence adduced by the People
necessarily establishes that [he] lacked a collateral purpose.” We do not agree.

“The jury need not be instructed on a theory for which no evidence has been
presented.” (People v. Roberts (1992) 2 Cal.4th 271, 313.) Indeed, it must not be

instructed on a theory for which there is no evidence. (See People v. Gutierrez (1985)



171 Cal.App.3d 944, 951.) Nevertheless, even if the prosecution’s main theory of the
case was that defendant intentionally killed Sanchez (see People v. Long (1940) 15 Cal.2d
590, 602), as long as there was any evidence from which the jury could infer that he
merely wounded Sanchez and then killed him as defendant was firing into the inhabited
dwelling to which Sanchez was retreating, the second degree felony murder instruction
was proper. (See People v. Morales (1975) 49 Cal.App.3d 134, 140; People v. Jackson
(1965) 233 Cal.App.2d 639, 640.) Even if under the latter scenario the killing was
merely accidental, negligent, or reckless, the felony murder rule would still be satisfied,
because liability for felony murder requires no culpable mental state except for the
mental state need to satisfy the elements of the underlying crime. That is so because

“ *malice,” the mental state which otherwise distinguishes murder from voluntary
manslaughter, is not an element of felony murder. The only mental state required for
felony murder is that necessary for commission of the underlying felony.” (People v.
Balderas (1985) 41 Cal.3d 144, 197.)

As noted, for an assaultive crime that results in death, the perpetrator is not liable
for second degree felony murder unless the underlying crime was committed with a
purpose independent of and collateral to causing injury. (People v. Robertson, supra, 34
Cal.4th at p. 171.)

Defendant argues that there was necessarily no collateral purpose here.
“According to [Marcelino] Carranza, [defendant] approached [Cesar Sanchez] and fired
directly at him. [Citation.] Mr. Sanchez was shot from a distance of three feet or less.
[Citation.] Plainly, these facts require a finding that [defendant] intended to shoot Mr.
Sanchez. Thus, use of the felony murder doctrine was precluded.” Defendant further
argues that the People’s only theory of the case was that defendant shot the victim
intentionally.

This argument, however, does not comport with the evidence before the jury. That

evidence is consistent with a scenario in which defendant shot Sanchez nonfatally in the



arm as the two confronted each other at close range in front of the house, Sanchez
retreated to the porch, defendant began firing in the direction of Sanchez (and necessarily
the inhabited dwelling as well), and one of the shots struck Sanchez in the head and
fatally wounded him.3

Our Supreme Court has explicitly stated that an independent purpose that satisfies
the collateral-purpose rule can be the purpose to intimidate the occupants of an inhabited
dwelling by firing a gun at that dwelling in violation of section 246. (People v.
Robertson, supra, 34 Cal.4th at p. 171.) There was evidence here from which the jury
could infer that, after defendant shot Sanchez, he fired various times at the inhabited
dwelling to frighten Mario Torres, Juan Torres, and/or Sanchez, but struck Sanchez in the
head, fatally wounding him. Thus, it is unavailing to argue that there was, as a matter of
necessity, no evidence of an independent and collateral purpose. Defendant argues that it
Is reasonable to infer that an actor who shoots another at close range intends at least to
harm if not kill, taking the action out of the purview of the felony murder rule. But that
inference is unavailable to defendant, because there is no evidence, if accepted by the
jury, that would necessarily have established that Sanchez died from a close-range shot to
the head; rather, the evidence suggested that the fatal shot was fired from a distance of
greater than three feet. The presence of evidence consistent with that scenario—i.e.,
defendant’s attempt to intimidate by firing multiple gunshots at the victim and/or the
victim’s inhabited house—defeats defendant’s argument that there was no evidence to

support instructing on second degree felony murder.

3 As we explain post, pages 10-11, the evidence establishes this state of events to a
virtual certainty. In this section, however, we need observe only that the evidence is
sufficient to refute defendant’s claim that there was no evidence to support an instruction
on second degree felony murder.



C. Failing to Instruct Sua Sponte on Finding a Collateral Purpose

Defendant claims that the trial court committed error under state law and violated
his due process rights under the Fifth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States
Constitution by failing to instruct sua sponte that before the jury could find him guilty on
a second degree felony murder theory, it must find he had a collateral purpose in firing at
Sanchez’s inhabited dwelling other than the purpose to kill Sanchez.

Because there is no reasonable probability of a different outcome absent any error,
and because the state has established that any flaws in the procedure were harmless
beyond a reasonable doubt, we need not decide whether state-law error occurred or the
constitutional right defendant may be understood to invoke was violated. Regarding the
latter: although defendant ostensibly invokes due process principles, the cases he relies
on, notably Apprendi v. New Jersey (2000) 530 U.S. 466, concern the Sixth Amendment
guaranty to the right to a jury trial. And defendant’s argument focuses on this guaranty.
He maintains that by failing to instruct the jury on the collateral-purpose rule, he was
denied his right to have the jury determine every fact that increased his punishment
beyond the prescribed statutory maximum.

“ “[U]nder the Sixth Amendment, any fact that exposes a defendant to a greater
potential sentence must be found by a jury, not a judge, and established beyond a
reasonable doubt, not merely by a preponderance of the evidence.” [Citation.] In. ..
Apprendi . . . the high court held that ‘any fact that increases the penalty for a crime
beyond the prescribed statutory maximum must be submitted to a jury, and proved

beyond a reasonable doubt.” [Later] the court clarified that the prescribed * “statutory

maximum” * for purposes of the right to a jury trial is not necessarily the maximum
penalty stated in statute for the crime; rather, it is ‘the maximum sentence a judge may
impose solely on the basis of the facts reflected in the jury verdict or admitted by the

defendant.” [Citation.]” (People v. Black (2007) 41 Cal.4th 799, 809, italics deleted.)



Defendant did not admit to attempting to frighten the occupants of Sanchez’s house; his
defense was that he was not the shooter.

The People advance a number of arguments against defendant’s view. In our view,
whatever the merits of the parties’ contentions regarding this area of the law, defendant
must be denied relief because no prejudice resulted from the trial court’s failure to
Instruct sua sponte on the collateral-purpose rule.

When the jury found defendant guilty of second degree murder, it necessarily
concluded that he killed Sanchez. The jurors rejected defendant’s identity defense that
Francisco Carrillo killed Sanchez. And defendant concedes that “[t]he evidence
established that [defendant] shot directly at Mr. Sanchez.”

The jury was instructed on three theories of second degree murder: express malice
murder, implied malice murder, and felony murder because the killing occurred during a
violation of section 246. Given the eyewitnesses’ testimony and the forensic evidence
that was adduced at trial, the most plausible scenario is that defendant, confronting
Sanchez as Sanchez stood near the front gate, shot him in the arm at close range.

Sanchez began to retreat to his porch, and at some point defendant, continuing to fire in
Sanchez’s direction, inflicted a fatal head wound on him. Sanchez collapsed on the
porch, where he was found by family members as defendant fled. Defendant knew
Sanchez’s house was inhabited because moments beforehand someone had said the house
was occupied by Surefios and Sanchez was standing in the yard.

The evidence admits of only three possibilities: defendant intended to kill
Sanchez (express malice), continued to fire at him with a conscious indifference to
human life (implied malice), or intended to fire into an inhabited dwelling and killed
Sanchez accidentally or otherwise. “It is settled that as long as each juror is convinced
beyond a reasonable doubt that defendant is guilty of murder as that offense is defined by
statute, it need not decide unanimously by which theory he is guilty.” (People v.

Santamaria (1994) 8 Cal.4th 903, 918.) If a particular juror rejected both the express
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malice and the implied malice theories, then that juror necessarily found that defendant
killed Sanchez while firing in the direction of the house. To suggest that he did so neither
intending to kill nor intending to frighten, warn, or boost his gang rank (the most
plausible scenarios if he acted with neither express nor implied malice) beggars belief in
light of the evidence. Defendant would have to have been shooting repeatedly without
any purpose whatsoever.

Because defendant’s Sixth Amendment denial-of-jury-trial claim is a claim of trial
error rather than of structural error, we review it for prejudice under the standard of
Chapman v. California (1967) 386 U.S. 18, 24, i.e., a showing by the state that any error
was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. (People v. French (2008) 43 Cal.4th 36, 52-
53.) We do not hesitate to so find here. As for defendant’s state-law claim that the trial
court erred in failing to instruct sua sponte on the collateral-purpose theory, we review it
for prejudice under the standard of People v. Watson (1956) 46 Cal.2d 818, 836, i.e.,
whether there is a reasonable probability that, but for the asserted error, the outcome
would have been more favorable to a criminal defendant. Again, we do not hesitate to
find no such reasonable probability on this record. Defendant is not entitled to relief.

D. Equal Protection Claim

Defendant claims that if one or more jurors found him guilty on a second degree
felony murder theory (as we agree may have occurred), his punishment was arrived at in
violation of the equal protection of the laws. We disagree.

Defendant observes that the merger rule does not apply to protect a criminal
defendant against a second degree felony murder conviction obtained because of a
violation of section 246, but can apply when the defendant has violated section 246.3,
I.e., grossly negligent discharge of a firearm. (Compare People v. Hansen, supra, 9
Cal.4th 300, with People v. Randle (2005) 35 Cal.4th 987, 1005.)

The rational basis test applies to defendant’s claim. (People v. Wilkinson (2004)

33 Cal.4th 821, 838.)
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Defendant’s claim is without merit. The Supreme Court has held that when an
actor violates section 246.3 for an independent and collateral purpose, the actor does not
benefit from the merger rule. Only when the purpose is assaultive does the actor so
benefit. (Compare People v. Robertson, supra, 34 Cal.4th at p. 171, with People v.
Randle, supra, 35 Cal.4th at p. 1005.) Thus, the violator of section 246.3 who is
similarly situated to a violator of section 246 is subject to the same liability for second
degree felony murder.

Defendant’s argument that it violates equal protection principles to apply the
felony-murder doctrine to a less dangerous crime than others subject to the merger
doctrine is unpersuasive. Assault with a deadly weapon is dangerous but nevertheless
merges with the murder. It is the nature of the offense (whether the underlying crime is
assault-related or has some different and independent purpose), not its dangerousness,
that matters for purposes of applying, or not applying, the merger doctrine. Accordingly,
we reject defendant’s equal protection claim.

E. Claim of Unconstitutional Court-Created Crime

Defendant claims that second degree felony murder is an unconstitutional court-
created crime rather than a crime defined by statute. The California Supreme Court has
implicitly rejected this argument, holding only that second degree felony murder must be
limited to “ * “its required application.” *” (People v. Howard (2005) 34 Cal.4th 1129,
1135.) Plainly, a violation of section 246 leading to death is one of the required
applications. (People v. Hansen, supra, 9 Cal.4th 300.) Defendant’s claim is without
merit.

F. Claim of Unconstitutional Presumption of Malice

Defendant claims that because older California Supreme Court cases suggested
that malice aforethought is presumed when the commission of a dangerous felony leads
to a felony murder conviction, the felony murder doctrine is unconstitutional because it

obviates the prosecutor’s requirement to prove malice, but instead imposes on the jury a
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conclusive presumption that the defendant acted with malice. (See Carella v. California
(1989) 491 U.S. 263, 265-266 (per curiam).)

We do not agree. The state of the law was well explained in the recent case of
People v. Lewis (2006) 139 Cal.App.4th 874, which relied on California Supreme Court
cases postdating those defendant cites: “The court-created second degree felony-murder
rule acts as a substitute for the mental component of malice. [Citations.] Under this rule,
a homicide that results from the commission of a felony that is inherently dangerous to
human life (other than the felonies enumerated in Penal Code section 189 to support first

degree murder) is second degree murder. [Citation.] An inherently dangerous

felony” is an offense carrying “a high probability” that death will result.” [Citation.]

When the felony-murder rule applies, the only criminal intent required is the specific
intent to commit the particular felony.” [Citation.]”” (ld. at p. 882.) There is no
unconstitutional conclusive presumption, but rather a definitional substitution of the
intent to commit the underlying felony for malice aforethought. Defendant cites no
authority that such a regime is unconstitutional. Defendant is correct, of course, that the
Legislature has specified that every murder requires malice aforethought, and yet has
differentiated first degree felony murder from other forms of first degree murder.
(88 187, subd. (a), 189.) He does thereby identify a problem arising from the fact that
second degree felony murder is court-created, not created by statute. Because the second
degree felony murder doctrine has withstood constitutional challenge, however, we
conclude that defendant’s observation in connection with this claim is unavailing.

Il. Admitting Evidence of Defendant’s Prior Gang-related Juvenile Misconduct

Defendant claims that the trial court committed error under state law and violated
his due process rights under the Fifth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States

Constitution by denying his motion to exclude evidence of his prior gang-related violent

conduct and permitting the jury to receive that evidence.
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We agree with defendant that the trial court erred in denying his motion and
permitting the evidence to be introduced. We conclude, however, that no prejudice to
defendant resulted from the error, whether under the Watson or Chapman standard.

A. In Limine Trial Proceedings

Before trial the prosecutor advised the trial court and defense counsel that he
intended to introduce evidence of defendant’s prior gang-related violent conduct.
Defendant had been adjudicated as a juvenile to have committed two aggravated assaults
(8 245); in one of the cases, the juvenile court also found true a section 186.22 gang
enhancement allegation. The prosecutor asserted that the evidence was admissible to
show defendant’s intent and motive with regard to a section 186.22 gang enhancement
that was alleged here. Defense counsel was willing to stipulate to the jury that the Varrio
Horse Shoe gang set constituted a criminal street gang in the legal sense (§ 186.22), that
the murder of Sanchez was a gang-motivated offense, and that defendant committed a
number of “inflammatory predicate offenses.” Counsel drew the line only at stipulating
that defendant was a member of the Varrio Horse Shoe set; that he would not do.

But defense counsel was concerned that depending on how the evidence of the
predicate violent conduct and statements was introduced, there would be “substantial
prejudice to my client that this is going to be improperly used as bad character evidence,
as violent propensity evidence, [which is] improper. | don’t think it can be cleaned up or
resolved by some limiting instruction, in essence, trying to unring the bell in that fashion,
when there [are] substantial other forms of evidence that . . . would accommodate the
[d]istrict [a]ttorney’s needs beyond the fact that I’m willing to stipulate to all that.”
Counsel objected that the proffered evidence would be inadmissible character evidence
(Evid. Code, § 1101 et seq.) and substantially more prejudicial than probative (id., § 352)
and that its introduction would violate defendant’s rights under the Fifth, Sixth, and

Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution.

14



The prosecution opposed defense counsel’s stipulation offer “because the defense
Is that it wasn’t him.”

The trial court ruled that the evidence was admissible to show motive and intent as
to the murder charge, the second degree felony murder charge insofar as it could be used
to establish the intent to fire at an inhabited dwelling (see 8§ 246), and the gang
enhancement allegation. As noted, ultimately the jury returned no finding on the gang
enhancement allegation and the trial court dismissed it on the prosecution’s motion.

Later defense counsel mounted another attack on the proffered evidence, arguing
In court papers that any expert testimony in which the details of documentary evidence
would be recited to the jury would be inadmissible hearsay and should be excluded. The
trial court implicitly denied the motion to exclude.

B. Evidence Presented to the Jury

The trial court qualified a San Jose police officer as an expert on Hispanic gangs,
particularly the Varrio Horse Shoe set to which defendant belonged.

The prosecutor asked the officer whether he had an opinion whether defendant
was a member of the Varrio Horse Shoe set. The officer testified that he thought he was.
Asked to explain the basis for his opinion, the officer testified he was relying on reports
and field interviews concerning violent conduct defendant or people associated with him
had committed.

The officer than began to recite a litany of facts describing defendant’s and his
associates’ violent conduct.* With regard to defendant in particular, the officer read from

the reports or paraphrased their contents in detail:

4 The officer engaged in similar recitations of the gang-related conduct or
statements of Marcelino Carranza, Alejandro Mariscal, Francisco Carrillo, Carrillo’s
brother Cesar Diaz, Joel Gutierrez, Javier Medina, James Ortega, Fernando Morales, and
Jason Tapia. The officer’s testimony described these individuals’ participation in one or

(footnote continued on next page)
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“On September 19th of 2000, [defendant] was stopped for truancy and he was with
an individual by the name of Bobby Gonzales. Gonzales is an admitted member of
Varrio Horse Shoe and Bobby Gonzales has recently been indicted for a gang-related
murder that happened in ’04. And—I’m sorry, ’03. And that was done for the benefit of
Varrio Horse Shoe gang. [1] Q. And was that the David Street homicide? [{] A. That’s
correct.”

The officer continued: “On July 15th of *02 [defendant] was involved in a gang-
related assault, he got in an argument, he was thirteen years old, he got in an argument
with a neighborhood kid and attacked the kid with a baseball bat . . .. And hit him
several times in the head. And during the altercation, [defendant] was heard by several
witnesses yelling, ‘If you —’ quote, ‘If you mess with me, you are messing with Horse
Shoe.” He also yelled out “Horse Shoe. Horse Shoe. You’re going to die, puto.’

“The bat was later collected and it had the letters “VHS’ written on it, which, in
my opinion, stands for Varrio Horse Shoe.

“During the investigation, after he was arrested, officers from the gang
Investigations unit did a search of his home and found several gang-related items. They
found a red T-shirt with ‘SJ” on it, and *San Jose’ written on it. They found a red and
white Nebraska jersey, which is a red jersey that has a ‘N,” just a white ‘N’ on it. They
found a notebook with several graffiti writings such as “VHS,” “WSSJ,” all in different
combinations, ‘X4,” just a bunch of doodling, writing on it.

“During that investigation, Detective Nieves . . . from the gang investigations unit
spoke with [defendant] and [defendant] said that he claims VHS because he hangs out at

Horse Shoe Park and has friends that are Horse Shoe.

more fights, aggravated assaults, and attempted and possibly completed murders prior to
the crimes with which defendant was charged.
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“The next case occurred on January 21st of ’03. [Defendant] was involved in a
gang-related assault at school at Crossroads School which is a continuation school.
School officials reported that two Nortefio students got into a fist fight on campus and
one of the students was, in fact, [defendant].

“Ateacher . .. told Officer Videan . . . that [defendant] has admitted to her that he
was a Varrio Horse Shoe gang member. And the teacher also told Officer Videan that in
her experience, [defendant] hangs out with several other Nortefio gang members.

“And also at that time, [defendant] was on gang probation with the Santa Clara
County Probation Department, and had a gang probation officer.

“The next incident happened six days later, 1/27/03. [Defendant] and several of
his friends were walking through the parking lot of the San Jose Arena, they observed a
victim they felt was a [Surefio] gang member. At that point, they started yelling, quote—
all three of them started yelling ‘[Expletive] scrap. Puro Norte.” And at that time,
[defendant threw] a portable [compact disc] player at the victim and all three suspects
attacked the victim with punches and kicks. And . . . [defendant] was later arrested and
his probation was violated for that incident.

“On October 10th, of 04, [defendant] was stopped in a vehicle for Vehicle Code
violations . . . in the middle of the Varrio Horse Shoe neighborhood. He was with Alex
Mariscal, and Cesar Diaz, who are both admitted Nortefio gang members.

“[Defendant] was cited for violating his gang probation orders, which part of his
orders state that he’s not allowed to hang out with other gang members, which he was
doing. And he was also wearing a red shirt and a red belt, which is a direct violation of
his gang probation orders. You’re not allowed to wear any gang colors if you’re on gang
probation.

“On 12/12 of ’04, approximately two months later, [defendant] was contacted . . .
[along] with three other Nortefio gang members, again, Alejandro Mariscal, Richard

Hernandez and Cesar Diaz. All subjects in that case admitted to the officer that made the
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stop that they are Nortefio gang members and [defendant] was wearing a red belt and a
red and black San Jose Sharks hat. The other individuals had gang clothing on as well.”
(Italics added.)

“Q. ... [1] So in your opinion, based upon what you just indicated, you believe
that [defendant] is a Varrio Horse Shoe gang member?

“A. Yes.”

The officer’s testimony took place on November 15, 2006. On December 8, 2006,
I.e., 24 days after the jury heard the foregoing evidence, the trial court gave the jury
instructions that pertained to the officer’s testimony: “You must decide whether
information on which the expert relied was true and accurate.” *“Having a motive may be
a factor tending to show that the defendant is guilty; not having a motive may be a factor
tending to show the defendant is not guilty.” “You have heard evidence that the
defendant made an oral or written statement before the trial. You must decide whether or
not the defendant made any of these statements in whole or in part. If you decide that the
defendant made such a statement, consider the statements along with all the other
evidence in reaching your verdict.”

Having given these pertinent instructions, the trial court proceeded to instruct in
detail on how to consider the officer’s testimony about defendant’s prior violent conduct,
as follows:

“The People presented evidence that the defendant committed the offense of
assault with a deadly weapon that was not charged in this case. You may consider this
evidence only if the People have proved by a preponderance of the evidence that the
defendant, in fact, committed the uncharged offense offenses.”

“If you decide that the defendant committed the uncharged offenses, you may, but
are not required to consider that evidence for the limited purpose of deciding whether or
not the defendant acted with a specific intent prior to prove the offense and allegations in

this case, or the defendant had a motive to commit the offense alleged in this case.
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“In evaluating this evidence, consider the similarity or lack of similarity between
the uncharged offenses and the charged offense. Do not consider this evidence for any
other purpose. Do not conclude from this evidence that the defendant has a bad character
or is disposed to commit crime.

“If you conclude that the defendant committed the uncharged offenses, that
conclusion is only one factor to consider along with all the other evidence. It is not
sufficient, by itself, to prove that the defendant is guilty of murder or voluntary
manslaughter, and/or the charged allegations. The People must still prove each element
of the charge beyond a reasonable doubt.”

C. Analysis
1. Error

“We review evidentiary rulings, including those involving hearsay issues, for
abuse of discretion.” (People v. Zambrano (2007) 41 Cal.4th 1082, 1144.) The same
standard applies to claims of improper admission of unduly prejudicial evidence under
Evidence Code section 352 (People v. Ayala (2000) 24 Cal.4th 243, 282) and character
evidence under Evidence Code section 1101 et seq. (People v. Catlin (2001) 26 Cal.4th
81, 120).

With regard to defendant’s precise claim, we have explained that “[b]ecause an
expert’s need to consider extrajudicial matters and a jury’s need for information sufficient
to evaluate an expert opinion may conflict with an accused’s interest in avoiding
substantive use of unreliable hearsay, disputes in this area must generally be left to the
trial court’s sound judgment.” (People v. Valdez (1997) 58 Cal.App.4th 494, 510.)

Despite the deferential nature of this standard of review, and the rule we stated in
Valdez that “generally” (58 Cal.App.4th at p. 510) such questions rest within the trial
court’s exercise of discretion, the requirement remains that the court must exercise its
discretion according to law. A court has no basis for the proper exercise of discretion if

that exercise is based on a misunderstanding or misapplication of the underlying legal
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principles. As recently stated by our Supreme Court, “an abuse of discretion arises if the
trial court based its decision on impermissible factors [citation] or on an incorrect legal
standard.” (People v. Knoller, supra, 41 Cal.4th at p. 156.) There is a substantial risk of
a violation of a criminal defendant’s Sixth Amendment confrontation rights when an
expert witness recites too much hearsay evidence about the defendant’s prior conduct and
the defendant is left unable to challenge that evidence precisely because it is hearsay, i.e.,
the declarant is unavailable for cross-examination. “ * “ “The opportunity of cross-

examining . . . is denied the party as to whom the testimony is adverse.
Campos (1995) 32 Cal.App.4th 304, 308; see People v. Catlin, supra, 26 Cal.4th at p. 137

(People v.

[expert witness may not simply recount the details of a report]; People v. Coleman (1985)
38 Cal.3d 69, 92 [same].) In sum, “while an expert may give reasons on direct
examination for his opinions, including the matters he considered in forming them, he
may not under the guise of reasons bring before the jury incompetent hearsay evidence.”
(Coleman, at p. 92.)

In People v. Valdez, supra, 58 Cal.App.4th 494, we declined to apply the Coleman
rule to the circumstances of that case. We reasoned that “the hearsay . . . did not directly
name or implicate defendant in any other criminal activity” (id. at p. 511) and the trial
court repeatedly gave limiting instructions during the expert witness’s testimony that the
jury should not consider the expert witness’s hearsay evidence for its truth (ibid.).

Here, in contrast to Valdez, the officer’s testimony directly implicated defendant in
other criminal activity. In these circumstances, we are not reassured that any limiting
instruction could prevent the jury from giving improperly wide-ranging consideration to
the testimony. “Ordinarily, the use of a limiting instruction that matters on which an
expert based his opinion are admitted only to show the basis of the opinion and not for
the truth of the matter cures any hearsay problem involved, but in aggravated situations,
where hearsay evidence is recited in detail, a limiting instruction may not remedy the

problem.” (People v. Coleman, supra, 38 Cal.3d at p. 92.) Because of the officer’s
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recitation of inflammatory, directly inculpatory, and factually detailed hearsay evidence—
evidence that made defendant out to be, in essence, violent and wantonly prone to crime
even in his early adolescence—we think this is a situation in which a limiting instruction
would do little to cure the problem.

Moreover, the instructions actually given were fraught with problems. First,
People v. Gardeley (1996) 14 Cal.4th 605 explained that “a witness’s on-the-record
recitation of sources relied on for an expert opinion does not transform inadmissible
matter into ‘independent proof’ of any fact.” (ld. at p. 619.) The trial court should have
ensured that the jury did not transform the officer’s testimony into independent proof of
the facts the officer recited from the reports “by an instruction that matters admitted
through an expert go only to the basis of his opinion and should not be considered for
their truth.” (People v. Valdez, supra, 58 Cal.App.4th at p. 511.) The limiting
instructions to which the People call our attention contain no such admonition, nor do the
People contend that the court gave any such admonition.

And unlike the circumstances of People v. Valdez, supra, 58 Cal.4th at page 511,
the court’s instruction came 24 days after the jury heard the evidence, long after the jurors
had heard the officer’s testimony. The time gap would make it all the harder to get the
jurors to set aside their natural inclination to accept the testimony for the truth of the
contents of the reports, because the passage of so much time would have made it harder
to recall what testimony any limiting instruction applied to, i.e., which testimony was to
be considered for the truth of the matter asserted and which was not to be so considered.

Yet another difficulty arises from the limiting instruction itself. It referred to an
uncharged offense of assault with a deadly weapon, which the jury could, under the
reasonable likelihood standard applicable to such questions (People v. Ayala, supra, 24
Cal.4th at p. 289; People v. Clair (1992) 2 Cal.4th 629, 663), have misinterpreted as
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referring to defendant’s killing of Sanchez and not to juvenile adjudications that occurred
long before.®

For the foregoing reasons, we conclude that the trial court erred under state law in
permitting the officer to testify in detail from reports about defendant’s violent history.

As noted, defendant objected to the prosecution’s plan to introduce the hearsay
evidence not only on state law grounds, but also on the basis of the Fifth, Sixth and
Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution. On appeal defendant does not
pursue the Sixth Amendment claim asserted below but does pursue a due process claim
under the Fifth and Fourteenth Amendments. We discern no due process violation,
however. Only in rare instances is a ruling on an evidentiary controversy so
fundamentally unfair in its result that a federal due process violation results. In other
words, “[t]he admission of evidence, even if erroneous under state law, results in a due
process violation only if it makes the trial fundamentally unfair.” (People v. Partida
(2005) 37 Cal.4th 428, 439.) The evidence presented here, though inflammatory and
prejudicial, did not so undermine the fairness of defendant’s trial overall that we can find
a due process violation and determine that defendant is entitled to relief. Aside from the
presentation of this evidence, defendant has little to complain about in the prosecution’s
conduct or the trial court’s presiding over the trial. Other highly inculpatory evidence
against him was fairly presented. We reject defendant’s constitutional claim.

2. Prejudice

Because we find state law error, we must evaluate it for prejudice under the

Watson standard, i.e., whether a reasonable probability exists that absent the error the

outcome would have been more favorable to defendant. (People v. Watson, supra, 46

5> We do not agree with the People that defendant forfeited any claim that the
limiting instruction was inadequate by failing to insist on better instructing during trial.
Defendant sought a limiting instruction in a court filing.

22



Cal.2d at p. 836.) “Absent fundamental unfairness, state law error in admitting evidence
IS subject to the traditional Watson test: The reviewing court must ask whether it is
reasonably probable the verdict would have been more favorable to the defendant absent
the error.” (People v. Partida, supra, 37 Cal.4th at p. 439.)

We discern no such reasonable probability. The evidence that defendant murdered
Sanchez was extremely strong. Marcelino Carranza testified that defendant deliberately
gunned Sanchez down. Mario Torres and Juan Torres both witnessed the killing of
Sanchez, and their testimony and that of other witnesses identified defendant as the
probable killer based on the distinctive Jerry Rice 49ers football team jersey defendant
was wearing that evening. Defendant admitted to Alejandro Mariscal that he had
“dumped” on Sanchez. Defendant was not prejudiced by the trial court’s erroneous

failure to adequately control the officer’s hearsay testimony.®

6 With regard to prejudice, defendant argues that this was a close case because the
jury requested readbacks of various witnesses’ testimony and deliberated for four days.
Defendant is correct about the proceedings. The jury’s deliberations, however, are secret
and we do not know what caused it to act as it did. The jurors could, for example, have
been torn about whether to find true the gang enhancement allegation. As noted,
ultimately the jury returned no finding on that allegation and the trial court dismissed it
on the prosecutor’s motion. Or jurors could have had strong differences of opinion
whether the murder of Sanchez was first degree or second degree. We need not belabor
the point further.

Defendant also raises an ineffective assistance of counsel claim that is predicated
on (1) his anticipation of our conclusion that he failed to preserve his claim for review
and (2) an assertion that counsel performed deficiently by failing to request that the
instruction regarding the officer’s testimony inform the jury that the testimony was not to
be considered for the truth of defendant’s prior misconduct. We have found that he did
preserve his claim, which renders moot defendant’s first point. Regarding the second,
defendant is correct that the limiting instruction was inadequate (ante, p. 21), but even if
counsel was deficient for failing to request an admonition about not considering the
officer’s testimony for its substantive truth, we discern no reasonable probability that the
outcome would have differed had counsel made such a request, and therefore reject
defendant’s ineffective assistance of counsel claim. (Strickland v. Washington (1984) 466
U.S. 668, 687-688, 694.)

23



1. Prosecutorial Misconduct

Defendant raises three claims of misconduct by the prosecution team: one by a
district attorney’s office investigator, and two by the prosecutor himself. The trial court
dealt with each incident properly, acting within the discretion conferred on it to address
such matters, and therefore none of defendant’s claims warrants entitlement to relief.

Under federal law, “ “[i]jmproper remarks by a prosecutor can “ “ “ “so infect [ ] the
trial with unfairness as to make the resulting conviction a denial of due process.”” *
(People v. Carter (2005) 36 Cal.4th 1114, 1204.) Under state law, “a prosecutor who
uses deceptive or reprehensible methods to persuade either the court or the jury has
committed misconduct, even if such action does not render the trial fundamentally
unfair.” (lbid.)

There is no requirement that “a prosecutor must act with a culpable state of mind.
A more apt description of the transgression is prosecutorial error.” (People v. Hill (1998)
17 Cal.4th 800, 823, fn. 1.)

“Misconduct that infringes upon a defendant’s constitutional rights mandates
reversal of the conviction unless the reviewing court determines beyond a reasonable
doubt that it did not affect the jury’s verdict. [Citations.] A violation of state law . . . is
cause for reversal [only] when it is reasonably probable that a result more favorable to the
defendant would have occurred had the district attorney refrained from the untoward
comment. [Citations.] In either case, only misconduct that prejudices a defendant
requires reversal [citation], and a timely admonition from the court generally cures any
harm.” (People v. Pigage (2003) 112 Cal.App.4th 1359, 1375.)

It appears that misconduct by any member of the prosecution team, including in
the form of independent action taken by an investigator for the district attorney’s office, is
Imputed to the prosecutor under the general rubric of prosecution misconduct. (In re
Martin (1987) 44 Cal.3d 1, 20, 33-35, 40, 46, 50.)

24



A Investigator’s Demanding That Defense Counsel Wait for Prosecutor
Before Speaking With Witness in Courthouse Hallway

Defendant claims that the prosecutor’s office committed misconduct when the
district attorney’s investigator interrupted defense counsel’s attempt to speak with a
witness and demanded that counsel wait until the prosecutor could arrive.

The incident was discussed in a hearing outside the jury’s presence. Defense
counsel explained that during the lunch recess he saw Carmen Torres outside the
courtroom and wanted to ask her a question. Torres was in the midst of testifying. As
counsel asked Torres if he could ask her a question, the investigator interceded,
displaying her badge and telling counsel he would have to wait until the prosecutor could
arrive. Counsel told the investigator he had no obligation to wait, turned to Torres, and
asked her if he could ask her a question. Torres declined.

When the prosecutor learned about the incident, he told Torres she had the right to
speak to defense counsel if she wanted to, but Torres said she did not want to do so.

When the trial court learned of the incident, it directed the prosecutor to admonish
his office’s investigator not to repeat the conduct and to inform Torres that she could talk
to defense counsel if she wished. It is unclear from the record whether the prosecutor
gave this information to Torres following the court’s action, had already done so on his
own initiative, or gave Torres the information on separate occasions for both reasons.

Defendant’s claim is foreclosed by People v. Panah (2005) 35 Cal.4th 395, 458,
which rejected a prosecutorial misconduct claim under similar circumstances. In Panah
as here, “the prosecution provided defendant access to the witness but she refused to
speak to the defense. Her refusal does not constitute prosecutorial misconduct.” (Ibid.)

B. Remarks at Closing Argument

Defendant claims that the prosecutor committed misconduct twice during closing

argument. Any harm, however, was cured by the trial court’s admonition to the jurors to

disregard the remarks.
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1. Comment on Future Dangerousness

The prosecutor argued that if the jury found defendant not guilty he would be free
to “kill again.” Defense counsel objected and the trial court admonished the jury to
disregard the remark. Defendant offers no reason that could lead us to conclude the
jurors failed to follow that instruction. As noted, “a timely admonition from the court
generally cures any harm.” (People v. Pigage, supra, 112 Cal.App.4th at p. 1375.) On
this record, we see no reason not to apply this rule.

2. Custody Status of Carrillo With Other Nortefios

The jury heard that Francisco Carrillo was in custody in the company of other
Nortefios when he testified at a preliminary hearing. The defense argued that Carrillo, the
real killer, was under Nortefio gang protection in jail and that the Nortefios were framing
defendant, even though he himself was a Nortefio. The prosecutor argued in response
that “people who are convicted of or are charged with [Carrillo’s crime] are actually held
in protective custody with the [Surefios], away from all the Nortefios.” Defense counsel
objected on the ground that the prosecutor was arguing facts not in evidence. The trial
court sustained the objection and admonished the jurors to disregard the remark.

Again defendant offers no reason that could lead us to conclude the jurors failed to
follow that instruction. On this record, we see no reason not to apply the rule that “a
timely admonition from the court generally cures any harm.” (People v. Pigage, supra,
112 Cal.App.4th at p. 1375.)

V. Cumulative Error

Defendant claims that his due process right to a fair trial under the Fifth and
Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution was violated because of the
cumulative effect of the trial court’s error and prosecution misconduct.

A claim of cumulative error is in essence a due process claim and is often

presented as such (see, e.g., People v. Rogers (2006) 39 Cal.4th 826, 911). “The ‘litmus
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test” for cumulative error ‘is whether defendant received due process and a fair trial.” ”
(People v. Cuccia (2002) 97 Cal.App.4th 785, 795.)

“‘[A] series of trial errors, though independently harmless, may in some
circumstances rise by accretion to the level of reversible and prejudicial error.” [Citation.]
The few errors that occurred during defendant’s trial were harmless, whether considered
individually or collectively. Defendant was entitled to a fair trial but not a perfect one.”
(People v. Cunningham (2001) 25 Cal.4th 926, 1009.) Taking all of defendant’s claims
Into account, we are satisfied that he received a fair trial and we deny his claim.

DISPOSITION

The judgment is affirmed.
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